

Accounting Policies Setting of Internally Developed Software and its Subsequent Expenditures in The Traditional Production Organisations

Master's Degree Project in Accounting and Financial Management

School of Business, Economics and Law at the University of Gothenburg

Authors: Alaa Al Mawed, Khaled Mohamed

Supervisor: Berit Hartmann

Spring 2022

Abstract

Thesis: Master Thesis in Accounting and Financial Management

University: School of Business, Economics and Law at the University of Gothenburg

Semester: Spring 2022

Authors: Alaa Al Mawed, Khaled Mohamed

Supervisor: Berit Hartmann

Title: Accounting Policies Setting of Internally Developed Software and its Subsequent

Expenditures in The Traditional Production Organisations

Background: In recent decades, technologies have overlapped with many traditional products. The competition is no longer limited to the quality of the products but also to the level of technology used in the products. That resulted in traditional production organisations finding their way into the field of software development. These organisations encounter many challenges due to the lack of expertise. In addition, a clear understanding of different software development methods was needed. This study focuses on the accounting challenges regarding distinguishing between subsequent expenditure and maintenance expenses. The purpose of this study is to provide an overview of how organisations set their accounting policies related to internally developed software. In addition to how the operational departments interact with these policies.

Methodology: To answer the research questions, a qualitative research method was adopted. It was mainly based on accumulated research work, where information was collected through interviews and documentations. Afterwards, the data were analysed, and finally, the results were discussed.

Concluding Discussion: Despite the fact that the sample was relatively small, the thesis showed several results. The results were represented by the organisations' work on setting primary accounting policies, within the framework of IFRS. The study shows that cooperation among organisations strengthens the implementation of proper policies. Moreover, it encourages finding the optimal accounting treatment for software development methods. Finally, it enhances operations departments' role in developing and improving procedures.

Keywords: Accounting Policies, Internally Developed Software, Subsequent Expenditures, Maintenance Expenses, IFRS, Agile Method, Waterfall Method, Intangible Assets.

Acknowledgements

First, we would like to thank our supervisor Professor Berit Hartmann from the School of

Business, Economics, and Law at the University of Gothenburg. We received valuable and

proper help each time we encountered issues or unanswered questions about our thesis. She

has guided us through the correct path every time we needed her.

A special thanks to the coordinator in the main organisation, who facilitated the data

collection and helped us in all stages of the thesis. Thanks also to all respondents who were

the main supporters of this research project. The research could not have been successfully

conducted without their participation and valuable input.

We would also like to thank the examiners and the discussion committee for their appreciated

efforts in discussing and judging this thesis. We would also like to acknowledge the

Academic Language Unit (ASK) at the University of Gothenburg as the second commentator

for this thesis and thank them for their helpful comments on this thesis.

Finally, we express our deepest gratitude to our families, teachers, and colleagues, especially

in our seminar groups and friends, for their support and encouragement throughout the two

years of study and through the writing of this thesis. This thesis would have been impossible

Gothenburg. 26 May 2022

without them.

Thank you.

<i>j</i>	
Alaa Al Mawed	Khaled Mohamed

Table of contents

1. Introduction	1
1.1. Background	1
1.2. Problem area	3
1.3. Purpose & research question	4
1.4. Disposition	5
2. Theoretical Framework	6
2.1. International accounting standard requirements	6
2.2. Institutional isomorphism	7
2.3. Internally developed software	8
2.4. Software development methods	9
2.5. The capitalisation of subsequent expenditures	10
2.6. Summary of the theoretical framework	11
3. Methodology	13
3.1. Research design	13
3.2. Data collection	13
3.2.1. Interviews	13
3.2.1.1. Define the industry	14
3.2.1.2. Respondents	15
3.2.1.3. Structure of interviews	16
3.2.2. Document relevance check	17
3.2.3. Data analysis	18
3.2.4. Limitation of the study	19
3.2.6. Ethical considerations and reliability	19
4. Findings and Analysis	21
4.1. Interpretations of international standards into organisations' accounting policies	21
4.1.1. Preparation accounting policies inside the organisation.	21
4.1.2. Cooperation among organisations	23
4.2. Organisations' implementation of accounting policies	24
4.3. Operation departments interaction with accounting policies.	27
5. Discussion	30
6. Conclusion	34
7. Suggestions for further research	
References	37

Glossary

Big Four = KPMG, Deloitte, EY, and PWC

EU = European Union

IAS = International Accounting Standards

IASB = International Accounting Standards Board

IFRS = International Financial Reporting Standards

para = Paragraph

R&D = Research and Development

1. Introduction

This section provides general background on the field of study. It also reviews the importance of the study and its contribution to the field of accounting. This section examines the problem area and purpose of the study, in addition to the central research questions.

1.1. Background

In recent years, organisations have increasingly relied on intangible assets (Aboody & Lev, 1998; Sullivan & Sullivan, 2000). One of the reasons for this transformation is the significant technological development that has taken place. Mainly, the software has become an essential part of organisations' assets (Allender, 2019). Traditional products have become increasingly associated with technology (Porter & Heppelmann, 2014). The market is increasingly moving towards smart software-backed products (Porter & Heppelmann, 2014). Traditional production organisations need to produce smart products with technical specifications to preserve their chances of competition (Porter & Heppelmann, 2014).

Organisations usually acquire software either through external procurement or through internal development. However, many organisations develop their own software to save costs, especially large, sophisticated organisations with high resources (Linton, 2011). These organisations strive for the best and cheapest ways to increase their efficiency and effectiveness (Bessen & Frick, 2018). However, incorporating software development into the businesses of traditional production organisations opens the door to entirely new areas for them. Traditional production organisations do not have the expertise in software development, as integrating software into products is relatively recent. The lack of expertise in this field creates many technical and accounting problems (Alexander, 2016).

Researchers have discussed the accounting problems created by internally developed software related to the capitalisation of expenditure. Researchers agree that the expenditures should be part of the balance sheet if they meet capitalisation conditions. Lev (2001, 2008) believes that a low level of capitalisation causes an undervaluation of the assets. However, significant uncertainty remains, which increases the need for clear accounting rules governing software expenditures (Walker & Oliver, 2005). IAS 38 lacks details regarding internally developed software. With the increasing complexity resulting from the software development process, the uncertainty increases for organisations to find the optimal accounting treatment methods for software development expenditure.

Accounting differentiates between the terms expenditure and expense. According to Holliday (2020), the term expense refers to the amounts an organisation spends on its business to ensure its continuation, i.e., utilities and maintenance. On the other hand, the term expenditure refers to the amounts that the organisation spends on purchasing assets or increasing the value of assets, which leads to an increase in the organisation's long-term value. Another difference between expense and expenditure is that expenses appear on the income statement while expenditures appear on the balance sheet (Elizabeth, 2022).

Programmers develop software using several programming methods that create the basis for the programmers' technical point of view. The two most common methods are the traditional waterfall and agile (McCormick, 2012). These two methods differently affect the accounting treatment of software development expenditures. The development method used to work with software may complicate the accounting treatment of the development. The distinction between the two methods is that the traditional waterfall method is more straightforward from the accounting point of view in determining the type of expenditure. However, it does not meet the modern technical standards of software development represented by continuous product improvement. In the waterfall method, the project's development occurs separately at each stage (McCormick, 2012).

Conversely, the agile method develops the software in a periodic iterative manner, adding subsequent frequent enhancements (Moniruzzaman & Hossain, 2013). Many organisations are trending to abandon the traditional software development waterfall method and adopt the agile method (Keita, 2020). The agile method gives organisations greater flexibility in the development process (Yurieva, 2016). It also enables programmers to make continuous enhancements (Moniruzzaman & Hossain, 2013). However, the agile method promotes the accounting complexity and creates problems related to subsequent expenditures (Balaziuk et al., 2020). Subsequent expenditures arise due to maintenance and enhancements added to the software after its release. The agile method makes the distinction between enhancements expenditures and maintenance expenses harder. It represents a big accounting challenge for the capitalisation of expenditures (Balaziuk et al., 2020).

The significance of the study is demonstrated by the software's major role in modern business models. Accountants need effective ways to deal with the software development process's accounting complexity. This study contributes to the accounting field by studying the

capitalisation problematic of internally developed software expenditures in traditional production organisations.

1.2. Problem area

In the absence of clear standards, the question arises of how organisations set their accounting policies to distinguish between subsequent expenditures and maintenance expenses. The accounting policies should lead to obtain acceptable capitalisation of internally developed software assets.

Recently there has been a shift in the business models of traditional production organisations. Traditional products are gradually being abandoned, and the markets demand smarter products by integrating software with the product (Porter & Heppelmann, 2014). This shifting made traditional production organisations enter the field of software development in which they had no experience (Alexander, 2016).

From an accounting perspective, the main problem the traditional production organisations encounter is the subsequent expenditures. They need to decide which expenditures should be capitalised and separate them from the expenses that should be expensed (Walker & Oliver, 2005). Due to the complexities of the process of software development, the expenditures overlap. The overlap hinders organisations from distinguishing between enhancements expenditures, which generate future economic benefits to the asset, and maintenance expenses.

The problem appears clearly when programmers develop internally developed software according to the agile software development method. In the agile method, programmers improve and maintain software simultaneously, even after software release. It causes the enhancements expenditures and the maintenance expenses to be overlapped.

According to Barker et al (2021), it is difficult to distinguish between operating expenses and investment expenditures. Therefore, the recognition of intangible assets is limited (Wyatt, 2008). Comparably, treating all expenditures as expenses within the income statement is considered as a failure, or a kind of misidentification (Eberhart et al., 2004). In contrast, distinguishing between current and other expenditures that intend to generate future revenues is considered to be successful (Barker et al., 2021).

IAS 38 lacks details about the accounting treatment of subsequent expenditures for internally developed software. However, organisations are obligated to follow the IFRS. The serious challenge for organisations is to set their accounting policies regarding internally developed software. Accounting policies should follow the requirements of IAS 38. They should also provide solutions to the problematic of subsequent expenditures for internally developed software

1.3. Purpose & research question

The current study aims to examine the capitalisation of internally developed software expenditures through three levels. The first level is the translation of international standards into accounting policies in the organisation. In addition to the cooperation between organisations in this field. Organisations are obligated to operate in accordance with IFRS. They are working on proposals for the accounting policy for capitalising subsequent improvement expenditures within the IFRS framework to be able to integrate them into their business models.

The second level is the organisations' implementation of their defined accounting policies. At this level, the study examines the driving factors in how organisations implement their accounting policies through an understanding of IFRS requirements. The study explains the uncertainty about software expenditures as intangible assets (Barker et al., 2021) related to software development methods. It also describes the strategies these organisations follow to differentiate between subsequent expenditures and maintenance expenses.

The third level is how operations departments interact with accounting policies. How they participate in accounting policies implementation and how they deal with the practical difficulties they encounter.

The central research questions are:

- How are international standards translated into accounting policies regarding internally developed software?
- How do organisations' software development methods affect the capitalisation of expenditures?

1.4. Disposition

The remainder of the study is structured as follows. The second section covers the previous literature examining internally developed software development expenditures and the revision of IAS 38. It also reviews previous literature on software development methods and their impact on the accounting treatment of expenditures. Subsequently, the third section describes the methods used to prepare the study and analyse them. The findings and analysis section presents themes based on the research questions. Then the discussion section of the key findings and contributions. The study concludes with the discussion conclusion sections. In addition to suggestions for further research.

2. Theoretical Framework

In this section, the study reviews the requirements of IAS 38 that organisations must follow. This section also reviews institutional isomorphism and its relationship to the cooperation between organisations. It reviews previous literature that examines internally developed software. In addition to highlighting the software development methods from the technical and accounting perspectives. This section discusses how the previous literature addressed the problematic of subsequent expenditures capitalisation.

2.1. International accounting standard requirements

Starting in 2005, International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) implemented IAS 38, which aimed to address all intangible and non-monetary assets (Marton et al., 2013). The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) revised IAS 38 and made inserted new amendments to it in 2008 and 2014. However, the amendments did not solve all the issues that the intangible assets encountered (Barker et al., 2021).

The International Accounting Standards Board has clarified capitalising and recognising internally produced assets as intangible assets (IAS 38, para 57). The conceptual framework of IASB requires that the entity has technical feasibility, intention, and ability to complete an asset for sale or use. The asset has to generate potential economic benefits. The availability of financial and technical resources is also needed to complete developing the asset. Finally, the entity should be able to accurately and reliably calculate the expenditures on this asset during its development.

Expenditures include all costs of materials, salaries, services, benefits provided to employees, registration fees of all kinds, whether legal or administrative, loan interests, and any other expenditures related to the development and production of the asset (IAS 38, para 66).

The decision of expensing or capitalising the internally developed software expenditure passes through two phases registered in the accounting records (IAS 38, para 52). According to IAS 38, the first phase covers the research (IAS 38, para 54), and the second phase covers the development (IAS 38, para 57).

The first phase includes those software items that do not meet the requirements for capitalisation. According to their respective nature, these items are recorded as expenses in the income statement (e.g., research and development, software tools, etc.) (IAS 38, para 54).

The second phase is the capitalisation. For this type of internal software, the decision to expense or capitalise the expenditure must be made after the internal software has been established (IAS 38, para 57). When the requirements are met, the intangible asset can be accepted. However, if the requirements are not fulfilled, the asset is registered as an expense in the income statement (IAS 38, para 34). Standard 38 directs that research expenses should be immediately recorded in the income statement. It also allows development expenditures to be capitalised and shown in the balance sheet (IAS 38, para 54).

International Accounting Standards have not expanded on the subsequent expenditures of intangible assets. IAS 38 considered that subsequent expenditures are more likely to preserve future economic benefits. It also states that they rarely meet the criteria for recognition of assets (IAS 38, para 20). Subsequent expenditures on intangible assets are only recognised as expenses when they do not increase the asset's economic benefits (Chalmers et al., 2008). It is possible to deal with software development expenditures through alternative methods (Walker & Oliver, 2005). Some financial managers and accountants are trying to develop their policies to cover the missing parts of the financial standards (Barth, 2018).

2.2. Institutional isomorphism

Institutional isomorphism is one of the main determinants when organisations implement accounting policies. It is represented by the tendency of organisations in the same field to be more similar over time due to pressures (DiMaggio & Powell, 1983). One of the classifications of institutional isomorphism is mimetic. In this classification, organisations seek to emulate the policies and practices of other successful organisations (DiMaggio & Powell, 1983). Mimetics arise due to uncertainty in accounting treatment (DiMaggio & Powell, 1983). Institutional isomorphism explains the compatibility of rules and practices between organisations in a given organisational area (Johnston, 2013).

Mimetic isomorphism is considered as one of the solutions to hard-to-solve problems (Lee & Pennings, 2002). However, organisations may mimic the application of accounting policies

that they believe are more efficient (Flynn et al., 2016). Organisations encounter difficulties determining the optimal accounting policies that deal with the capitalisation problematic of internally developed software expenditures. Therefore, through collaborative professional networks, organisations exchange information and experiences (DiMaggio & Powell, 1983). The information and experiences exchange between organisations increases the chances of finding solutions to problems (Collier, 2016). Organisational cooperation is also a form of mimetic isomorphism, as the organisation seeks to copy successful accounting policies (DiMaggio & Powell, 1983).

2.3. Internally developed software

Intangible assets have become significant for the organisation's financial statements, one of the highest quality assets (Maria Ienciu & Matis, 2014, P:6). Additionally, the internally developed software becomes a significant part of the intangible assets produced within many organisations.

The accounting treatment of internally developed software often differs significantly from the other assets. Based on the requirements and restrictions decreed by accounting standards, intangible investments should be included as assets in the financial statements (Prediscan & Sacui, 2011). The main problem is assessing internal software and determining its cost. Some of the internal software development methods -waterfall and agile- were discussed in this study from the accounting perspective. However, some capitalisation cases still need a special treatment to be applied.

The differences are evident in the accounting treatment of intangible assets between the internally developed software and those bought from other organisations (Prediscan & Sacui, 2011). Some managers are reluctant to mitigate intangible assets and thus tend to overinvest (Hatfield, 2002). Some methods imply that the intangible asset's useful life will increase by the software development process. It creates a problem of recognition for subsequent expenditures, modifications, and software changes. Even though IFRS allows some choices of whether to expense or capitalise certain intangible expenditures, it is hard to make the right decision. (Lu & Sivaramakrishnan, 2018).

2.4. Software development methods

The waterfall method of software development is no longer dominant. Organisations have gradually started leaning on agile methods. The Waterfall method is usually considered a more conservative approach and does not meet the modern technical requirements for programming (Stober & Hansmann, 2010). Waterfall development is a process in which software is developed through a long and rigorous plan. It is not easy to make significant revisions during the process. The waterfall method requires that one phase must be completed before the next one begins (Othman et al., 2017). Some organisations and individuals still use the waterfall method due to its focus on the plan before the work starts. The waterfall software development methods are best suited for projects with more stable or unchanging requirements (Vallabhaneni, 2018).

The methods used in software development affect the accounting treatment of software differently. Although the agile method leads to high-quality technical results, the work with agile methodology increases the accounting complexity (Balaziuk et al., 2020). The agile development approach influences how organisations determine software development expenditures. It requires organisations to apply accounting policies to identify and classify capitalisable expenditures (Celi & Dorn, 2020). Naturally, there are ongoing discussions about updating standards to an agile environment, but such discussions usually take years of planning (Balaziuk et al., 2020). Organisations need to keep track of all costs in developing agile software to ensure the accuracy of accounting records, and these costs should be categorised according to accounting policies (Celi & Dorn, 2020).

From the technical perspective, agile methods have gained wide acceptance due to the faster and more reliable solutions than traditional methods. They create their reputation by focusing on adaptability and flexibility. It's a single project design that allows for quick changes and multiple iterations (McCormick, 2012). These methods aim to provide a nimbler process for building software designing in small, iterative phases that allow developers to adjust their work based on feedback quickly. Incremental changes and frequent customer feedback and increased cooperation between department levels help create more competitive sphered cooperation between department levels. It also helps get more competitive products (Puri, 2009; Canty, 2015; Cobb, 2015; Kihlström, 2016).

Agile systems development methods have emerged as alternatives to traditional plan-driven approaches that fail to keep pace with rapidly changing environments (Highsmith, 2002). Every iteration passes through all design process stages, coding, and testing (McCormick, 2012). The general features of the agile software development method are incremental, collaborative, straightforward, and adaptable (Abrahamsson, Warsta, Siponen & Ronkainen, 2003). Agile development is about feedback and change. Thus, its methodologies are developed to "embrace, rather than reject, higher rates of change." (Williams & Cockburn, 2003). Agility is feeling for and responding to business prospects in order to stay creative in an unstable and fast-changing business (Highsmith, 2002). The agile approach includes the agility of the development stages as well as the development teams and their environment (Boehm & Turner, 2004).

The team-based agile approach achieves regularity (Coram & Bohner, 2005). This approach includes providing clients with software features in regular short time frames in line with the ideals of all parties (Southwell, 2002). Agile methodologies promote communication between project team members. They also increase the efficiency of collaboration and feedback. Finally, they cycle the improvement and verify the requirements (McCormick, 2012). Agile teams are created by people with multiple skills (Boehm, 2002). The development teams have on-site customers with much experience to ensure that the requirements are understood (Abrahamsson et al., 2002). Teams can handle change and discover new requirements more easily with short development cycles (Highsmith, 2002). Boehm and Phillip (1988) found that requirements often change by 25% or more. These methods are mentioned in scientific literature, and the need for agile management method features is emphasised (Puri, 2009; Canty, 2015; Cobb, 2015; Kihlström, 2016). Agile software development promotes incremental changes. It can also be flexible enough to adapt to changing needs (Stober & Hansmann, 2010).

2.5. The capitalisation of subsequent expenditures

The significance of subsequent expenditures has increased in the software development process. Through agile development methods, developers seek continuous periodic enhancements and software maintenance (McCormick, 2012). After using the agile software development methods, the proportion of subsequent expenditures that must be capitalised

increases. Software development expenditures were considered as seriously problematic from an accounting perspective. In addition, deciding what should be capitalised and what should be expensed was the most challenging difficulty (Walker & Oliver, 2005).

Some organisations need to develop effective ways to separate maintenance expenses from enhancements to avoid capitalising maintenance expenses (Triplett & Heuer, 2020). The asset recognition criteria also apply to subsequent expenditures, as these expenditures may lead to upgrades and enhancements that meet the criteria. The standards require that the expenditure introduces new functionality and increases the asset's economic benefits. The standards also suggest that the expenditure be measured and traced back to the asset reliably (IAS 38, para 20).

Maintenance expenses are intended to correct errors and keep the software up to date (Triplett & Heuer, 2020). Many researchers have considered maintenance as an umbrella term that includes enhancements and maintenance, although it is preferable to distinguish between enhancements and maintenance (Boddie, 1987; Marciniak and Reifer, 1990; Youll, 1990). Software changes are constantly made after the product has been released (Sommerville, 2000). In that case, the development was not limited to pre-release anymore.

2.6. Summary of the theoretical framework

In the theoretical framework section, the study refers to the theoretical requirements of IAS 38 for internally developed software. Organisations are obligated to follow IFRS, so they need to study all the aspects of IAS 38. Although IAS 38 does not provide sufficient detail (Barker et al., 2021), it forms the basis for how organisations build their accounting policies. The ability of organisations to translate international standards helps them set accounting policies that are able to solve the problematic of subsequent expenditures. Previous literature indicates a relationship between organisational cooperation and institutional isomorphism. Institutional isomorphism provides an explanation of the idea of organisations cooperation and their reasons for cooperation. Organisations seek to emulate successful policies and practices (DiMaggio & Powell, 1983). They may cooperate by sharing information and experience to obtain the best accounting policies.

Previous literature examines internally developed software from an accounting perspective. The importance of internally developed software for traditional production organisations is highlighted. Previous literature addresses the complexities of the internally developed software. The complexities are shown when programmers work with different software development methods. The theoretical section studies the software development methods from a technical perspective to understand the technical requirements of each method. The two most common software development methods are the waterfall and agile methods. The researchers argue that the waterfall method does not meet the modern technical requirements for programming and is more conservative (Stober & Hansmann, 2010). While the agile method gains wide acceptance, it gives faster and more reliable solutions (McCormick, 2012).

On the other hand, accounting research finds that the agile method increases the accounting complexity (Balaziuk et al., 2020). When working in the agile method, organisations encounter difficulties with subsequent expenditures. Separating the expenditures that should be capitalised from the expenses that should be expensed is the biggest challenge for organisations (Walker & Oliver, 2005). Together, these studies provide important insights into how organisations translate international standards to set accounting policies that are able to solve the problems regarding internally developed software.

3. Methodology

This section provides an overview of the methodology used in the research in terms of research design and quality. In addition, the method used to analyse the data is going to be presented.

3.1. Research design

Methodologies differ and have different strategies to reach the best investigation (Easterby et al., 2008). Each method has its strengths and weaknesses (Babbie, 2004). The research focuses on the problem, where the term "problem" is used to describe a knowledge gap equivalent to a research weakness (Coker and Macaulay, 2019). The chosen research method takes the form of a qualitative approach. It is mainly based on the accumulation of research (Aitken et al., 1994). According to Easterby et al. (2008), qualitative research helps identify and explore the issue of quality, which is to be implemented in this research. The qualitative research method makes the study more scrutinised which generates more details and questions. Moreover, it is the most proper approach employed to answer the research questions.

3.2. Data collection

The data has been collected through interviews (Cypress, 2018), and documents, i.e, internal memos during spring 2022. The research method followed strategies based on searching for information in two ways.

3.2.1. Interviews

To get more relevant information, interviews have been adopted as representing the art of asking and listening to obtain the relevant information (Denzin & Lincoln, 1994). It is considered as the best methodological tool (Lincoln & Guba, 1991) in this study. The interview is a type of research tool, where an interviewer gathers information about the procedures and processes followed in these organisations to set the accounting policies. The

authors do not know what the expert respondents know about the topics raised in the interviews (Cypress, 2018). All those respondents are professional accountants with high experience. They were nominated at the preparatory meetings. They occupy positions in the departments of the organisations in which they work and directly or indirectly contribute to the setting of accounting policies.

3.2.1.1. Define the industry

The focus has been on traditional production organisations. They are not organisations specialising in producing and selling software. In software production organisations, the software is considered products and goods. While in traditional production organisations it is considered an intangible asset. Focusing on one industry helps us avoid confusion because some factors and determinants differ between various industries (Aitken et al., 1994).

These organisations develop their independent software internally and then integrate it into their products. To narrow down the scope of the research, the focus was placed on the expenditures for enhancing and improving the software and its capitalisation. In addition, the method of setting policies.

This is the reason for choosing two of the largest traditional production organisations that have internally developed software departments. They represent optimal study models for the subject of our research. The software produced by those two organisations is constantly developed to still be able to compete and lead in the market. Therefore, they have a large amount of spending in this field, which provides a large sample with a relatively large qualitative weight compared to small organisations whose spending on software promotion is immaterial.

The respondents who were interviewed from these two organisations have great experience in dealing with this type of problems, through the development of policies compatible with IFRS and the fact that these policies are applicable in the operations departments. This means providing us with empirical materials that are relevant to the research topic.

3.2.1.2. Respondents

Several organisations were invited to participate in the study. However, only two relevant organisations showed the intention to cooperate. The respondents are IFRS specialists who manage the setting and approval of accounting policies consistent with IFRS. In addition to respondents in the other departments, they are who implement these policies. They are in daily contact with the rest of the operational departments, such as programmers and developers. They contribute indirectly to the setting of accounting policies through discussions, notes, and various financial and operational reports. The interesting and vital topic of the research was the capitalisation of the subsequent expenditures of the internally developed software. This topic motivated the respondents due to their awareness of the knowledge gap and the problem in the financial and accounting work that needs to be addressed. It may also help stimulate more research and find solutions to these issues that have not yet been fully resolved by IFRS. The names of the respondents or their job titles were not mentioned for privacy considerations. The label was "Respondent + (number)" and they have briefly described as Table 1 shows:

Table 1. The list of respondents, their roles, and tasks.

Respondent	Role	Tasks
Respondent 1	Head of Department in Group A	 Member of Senior Management, IFRS Expert, Contributes to Accounting Policies Setting and Approval, Monitors Financial and Accounting Performance and Financial Reporting, Manager and Team Leader
Respondent 2	Head of Department in Group B	 Member of Senior Management, IFRS expert, Contributes to Accounting Policies Setting and Approval, Issuing Quarterly and Annual

		External Reports, • Manager and Team Leader
Respondent 3	Expert Accountant in Group A	 Expert and Specialist in Capitalising Intangible Assets in Financial and Accounting Management, In Constant Contact with Programmers and Developers
Respondent 4	Expert Accountant in Group A	 Expert and Specialist in the Interpretation of Policies and in the Accounting Guidance in Financial and Accounting Management Coordinator with the Financial Departments in Co-organisation and Subsidiary Organisations.

3.2.1.3. Structure of interviews

Semi-structured interviews were conducted via the Microsoft Teams platform based on respondents' requests, which comforted. The main topic for the interviews was accounting policies of internally developed software and its subsequent expenditures in the traditional production organisations. More specifically, the focus was on subsequent expenditures issues related to software enhancements. Each interview lasted about 60 minutes on average. The interviews aimed to discuss the research questions from several aspects at a specific time. The respondents have been informed about the purpose, results, and how and where to use the information (Cypress, 2018). They were aware and permitted that the meetings were recorded. They all affirmed that the information they share is shareable and does not cause their employers any damage.

The interview questions were typical agreeable questions. There was also a possibility to pass on them due to secrecy. They were descriptive (Giorgi, 2009) and focused on phenomena

(Englander, 2012). There was always an open last question about what the respondents thought about the research topic outside the scope of the questions prepared in advance. The roles were distributed among the researchers to interviewer and observer. Questions were asked by the interviewer and notes were taken by the observer. The results from the interviews were then typed, and texts were thoroughly reviewed. The information provided by the respondents is assumably correct and relevant. A deficiency or error means that the respondent did not have enough information about the issue.

3.2.2. Document relevance check

To check the document relevance, initially, introductory meetings have been scheduled with the coordinator in Group A. During the first meeting, the history of the organisation has been viewed, and a brief explanation about the structure of the financial department (IFRS experts) has been given. Then internal memos used for perusal were taken and explained in detail. The memos represented guidelines for operations departments, within special channels. Then, a special permission to access these channels was granted to check more memos that meticulously describe work details, e.g., how, and when should subsequent expenditures be recognised as an asset in relation to already developed and capitalised software. Another example is what are the criteria and bases to be followed when registering for accounting? What is the useful life of the different software assets? How is the residual value of the asset determined when enhancements are made to it. Would this mean that the asset does not need to be depreciated to a value of zero?

Another example is the position paper, which will be discussed later in the finding section. Which is considered a preliminary paper that raises the accounting issue to be resolved, e.g, as regards the paper, what procedures should be taken to be able to capitalise on the development cost? This is in addition to reviewing historical data and digraphs related to some information, e.g, several of previous years' fault reports, which helps separate maintenance expenses from enhancement expenditures.

3.2.3. Data analysis

According to Maxwell (2005), data analysis is considered to be one of the most critical and ambiguous kinds of qualitative analyses. The current data has been collected from a transcript of the documented interviews. Transcription also helps to obtain specific and clear citations to support findings and analysis. These scripts formed the theoretical basis that created the key themes (Hartmann, 2021). In addition the leading actors roles and organisational procedures in setting policies (Hartmann, 2021). It helps in tracking the implementation of these policies by other departments later (Hartmann, 2021). The data is prepared and organised into digital folders and sorted by codes. The data analysis was based on the general analysis procedures such as taking notes, reflective thinking, and writing summaries (Creswell & Poth, 2017).

The highlighted specific data is related to the policies' setting approaches and the cooperation between the policies' setters and other departments. Through interactive discussions, acceptable methods of policies practice are followed. Moreover, the categories will be linked to the literature review. Finally, the ultimate point of view will be created, and the final report will be presented.

In the interviews, there have been many direct questions about setting and structuring accounting policies. The organisations' paperwork that has been documented took the form of internal memos, annual reports, and various documents related to internal accounting policies and their clarifications to operational divisions. All data and materials collected were critically examined and analysed. Moreover, Analysed information received in interviews with respondents who work in the organisations covered by the research. The inductive and discourse analysis were used to reasonably complete the research and answer the research questions. In addition, many methods and research tools that highlight relevance and faithful representation were used.

The research method assumes that knowledge of the accounting treatment of subsequent expenditures is incomplete. It creates an opportunity for research to enrich that knowledge. Therefore, this study tries to highlight some professional accountants' experience in setting accounting policies. It will conduct that through information and comments collected and analysed from the interviews. The research approach began with analysing the information collected from interviews and documents about subsequent expenditures. It also touched

upon the problem of the lack of clear criteria that would properly help address subsequent expenditures.

3.2.4. Limitation of the study

The qualitative approach helps describe and contain many details (Ochieng, 2009), on the other hand, there are many limitations in this study.

The present study has been subjected to some limitations, such as the differences in the semantic functions of some words and terminologies. Some words are polysemous such as Capitalisation, which is used in both lingual and financial contexts. Some other words have special meanings from the user's perspective, which does not always provide the same degree of certainty (Ochieng 2009). To avoid ambiguity, words with many interpretations have not been used on a large scale in the present study, and if the case is to use such words, elaborations will be provided.

The main limitation of the qualitative approach is that the sample is relatively small, which limits the diversity of the conclusions drawn from the research. In addition, the samples represent the respondents' points of view, which cannot be generalised to cover other organisations that have not been examined. One other limitation is the scarecy of information available from different organisations. In today's business, the dominant majority of all work organisations resort to secure their data in various business frameworks. It is taken into consideration that despite the cooperation of multinational groups, the study was limited for ethical considerations not to violate the organisations' data or privacy.

3.2.6. Ethical considerations and reliability

The agreements of information protection have been signed-in with the organisations' representatives. That goes under the plan to protect the confidentiality of information. The reason is that some organisations may have confidentiality concerns due to various factors, such as competition with other organisations. Collecting information was by reaching the private webs according to special permissions and channels. All these procedures secure the data, privacy, and confidentiality of the respondents' information (Cypress, 2018).

To avoid any harm to the respondents, whether physical or moral. Respondents have been informed in advance of the research topic, "Accounting policies of internally developed software and its subsequent expenditures, in the traditional production organisations". They read the questions and prepared the main points for the appropriate answers. Some candidates refused to take part in the study, which was one of their rights. Withdrawal was also an available option. Some other candidates withdrew even after they had given an initial approval to participate.

4. Findings and Analysis

This section shows the results found in the investigation. The findings and analysis section is divided by topic based on the following levels: The first level is the translation of international standards into accounting policies inside the organisation, in addition to the cooperation between organisations in this field. The second level is the organisations' implementation of their defined accounting policies. The third level is how operations departments interact with accounting policies.

4.1. Interpretations of international standards into organisations' accounting policies

4.1.1. Preparation accounting policies inside the organisation.

The case organisations have enhancement expenditures for internally developed software. Those expenditures are different from regular, periodic, and non-periodic maintenance expenses. The lack of precise and clear instructions for dealing with these subsequent expenditures in IFRS has created an accounting problem for departments. organisations usually solve such problems by developing their accounting policies based on IFRS. Internally set accounting policies are more relevant to the organisation itself. It constitutes the accounting instructions, guidelines, and directions the accounting departments follow to solve accounting problems.

According to respondents 1 and 2, their organisations have special departments that deal with IFRS, and policy development. These departments deal with IASB's pre-existing standards. They also follow up on updates from IASB that issue IFRS. Departments work to ensure that all accounting practices and financial reports issued and adopted by their organisations are consistent with IFRS.

Our department with IFRS experts, is the department within our group that interprets IFRS standards into group policies. **Respondent 1**

The group is following the IFRS as the EU adopts them, and the process for implementing accounting standards in the group is constantly following the development of any amendments or new accounting standards. **Respondent 2**

IAS 38 was created to describe the accounting treatment of intangible assets. Despite the particular importance of software in modern business models, the two case organisations consider that IAS 38 did not provide adequate interpretations regarding capitalising software development expenditure. Adherence to the standards is a legal obligation as the European Union (EU) has adopted IFRS. IAS 38 also requires organisations to include intangible assets in their financial statements. It is their duty to follow the concept of relative reliability (Huikku et al., 2017).

Concerning the implementation of IAS 38 in the two case organisations, they are drawing on the expertise of the Big Four, KPMG, Deloitte, EY, and PWC, in addition to reviewing the research published in this field. Organisations also collaborate to ensure optimal performance. The most challenging issue is that Standard 38 does not provide sufficient details and requires further interpretation. There is also an increasing need for clear definitions of maintenance expenses and the expenditures that must be capitalised.

It's really hard when it's a brand new area with the software, said **Respondent 1**In terms of internally developed software, we follow the three criteria of asset recognition, identifiability, controllability and future economic benefits, said **Respondent 3**

The interviewed respondents 1,2,3, and 4 demonstrated how the two organisations strictly follow the IFRS. In this framework, organisations develop their accounting policies regarding software. That occurs after many discussions that lead to decent explanations. All departments involved in the software development process need to understand the accounting policies. The following sections discuss the accounting policy development process in more detail.

Regarding policy selection, the findings are generally consistent with the previous research (Stadler & Nobes, 2018). The subsequent costs of the developed software are economically significant for organisations to a certain degree. They significantly affect the organisation financial statements (Stadler & Nobes, 2018). Therefore, the accounting policies that solve the subsequent expenditure issues are urgent necessities when clear standards are missing (Stadler & Nobes, 2018).

Respondents emphasised that the policies-setting department's view presents through a preliminary accounting position paper. This paper is general and, simultaneously, specific to

the requirements of the IFRS standards. It is done by reviewing these case standards and previous comments collected on relevant cases as well as recommendations and guidance of external auditors, especially the Big Four.

When we start to develop the new accounting policies, we always start to look at what the IFRS standard says and what it requires. We also read a lot of material [...] which is collected in the book, also we read a lot of guidelines from the Big Four. **Respondent 1**

This position paper is subject to further examination to access more details through cooperation with operative departments who have daily work instructions. Meetings with departments are held including the department of development, engineering, and equipment testing. Understanding how the software departments work and how they develop software helps establish the proper policies. In addition, it shows the cooperation among organisations within the group through mixed governance structures (Ménard, 2004).

4.1.2. Cooperation among organisations

The results of the present study show, unexpectedly, that organisations cooperate despite secrecy and competition. Organisations in similar industries consult and exchange experiences in software capitalisation. Caglio and Ditillo (2010) claim that the exchange of accounting information is a common method among organisations. Additionally, Thrane and Hald (2006) claim that the information exchange among organisations promotes cooperation and serves more significant purposes. The verity of the exchanged accounting information is vital for cooperation among organisations (Tomkins, 2001).

The collaboration between organisations is consistent with the assumptions of institutional isomorphism. According to DiMaggio & Powell (1983), when organisations cooperate in setting policies, they aim to mimic the organisation's best policies. Organisations tend to be similar in a particular organisational area (Johnston, 2013). Collier (2016) also supposes that the exchange of experiences and information facilitates obtaining solutions to the problems of organisations.

That interdependence and cooperation among organisations affect the flow of accounting information (Tomkins, 2001). When there is a high specificity of assets, the exchange of accounting information helps in the success of cooperative relations (Dekker, 2004). Thus, the exchange of common methods and settings between organisations creates a new and stimulating environment (Håkansson and Lind, 2006). On the contrary, some cautions have been given against the exchange of methods and information due to privacy, quality tests, and financial performance (Baiman and Rajan, 2002). Respondents 1 and 2 emphasised that cooperation in knowledge exchange must not cause any harm to any part of the operation.

We try to connect with other organisations in certain questions and to see how they have worked with these kinds of areas within their organisation. **Respondent 1**

We talk to other organisations [...] or other large Swedish organisations. [...] It's a mutual discussion that we learn from each other. [...] It's more like we need to solve this together. **Respondent 2**

Accounting research usually focuses on the development of accounting policies and the information technology infrastructure related to them. However, this study focuses on cooperation and exchange of accounting experiences among departments in different organisations. That constitutes a great deal of support for the accounting work regarding substantial human and material potentials and resources.

To conclude, cooperation is an essential and significant factor for accounting policies development. It might seem complex and problematic due to secrecy and quality test, but it is a robustly useful means to solve existing and potential problems.

4.2. Organisations' implementation of accounting policies

The analysis shows that some organisations face an accounting dilemma when following the agile approach to software development. The agile method presents a challenge from an accounting perspective. It is challenging to separate expenditures that need to be capitalised from maintenance expenses (Balaziuk et al., 2020). Overhead costs associated with internally developed software projects are more complex to measure than production overheads (Reed

& Wyckoff, 2016). In contrast to the waterfall method, in which software development is done in stages, the costs are more visible from the accounting perspective.

According to Balaziuk et al. (2020), research on accounting aspects of the agile method in software development requires topical significance. Previous research indicates that the main principles of the agile model are rapidness and consciousness. Those two principles guarantee that small software is satisfactorily delivered to customers constantly on time. This model engages with multiple iterations. Every iteration attempts to promote the product (McCormick, 2012). The agile approach is a more accurate way of scheduling and delivering on time (Smits, 2006).

Despite the technical benefits of the agile method, the main problem arises with the disappearance of clear boundaries between the stages of development. Organisations have difficulties applying effective accounting methods. The reason is that traditional accounting principles fail to deal with new challenges of the agile method (Balaziuk et al., 2020).

Respondent 2 claims that some organisations have not yet made the transition from the waterfall to the agile method. These organisations need to have more discussions about the possibility of implementing accounting policies. Those policies allow them to deal with the complexity created by the agile method. Through the discussions, the ability to determine and measure the asset's cost is gained.

We haven't done a full transition from waterfall to agile for a major part of the internally developed software. We have several discussions in regards to how intangible asset standard IAS 38 can be applied to agile projects, [...] since the IAS 38 is based on the waterfall method. **Respondent 2**

Organisations that have adopted the agile method are trying to find accounting solutions to determine the internally developed software costs. Before moving to the agile method, each project had its own number, and it was easy to allocate the costs of each project based on its number. However, the type of capitalisation differs among different departments when applying the agile method, said Respondent 1.

When it comes to the r&d (Research and Development) department, [...] they are still using cost carriers, which is like some sort of project number, [...] these cost carriers are easy to follow and track between different gates. **Respondent 1**

Software development projects in the research and development department pass through multiple gates. There are research gate, development gate, and maintenance gate. The costs are clear and easy to follow in this section due to the use of cost carriers. However, the development process in other departments is more ambiguous. There are no project numbers and no cost carriers. The development team also works on a range of products simultaneously through different sprints, as explained by Respondent 1.

The engineers do only time-reports at the product level, so we needed to find a good way to allocate all the costs that come into the product.[...] We need to calculate what can be capitalised, and what should be considered as maintenance. **Respondent 1**

Organisations need to find the appropriate unit of accounting in order to be able to evaluate their accounting achievement. In agile environments, the stages of development are not clearly defined (Celi & Dorn, 2020). Some organisations use maintenance keys as solutions to separate subsequent expenditures that must be capitalised from maintenance expenses. The percentage of maintenance expenses is estimated through the maintenance keys, based on several specific factors. Fault reports are one of the primary factors in determining the percentage of maintenance expenses. There is a system that collects the various faults, in which the number of fault reports the organisation receives is considered. However, newly developed software lacks sufficient data, which leads to estimating the reasonable level of maintenance percentage based on professional judgement, said Respondent 1.

They need to make some kind of judgement to structure it in the best way as possible, when it comes to establish and decide the maintenance key. [...] There is the controlling organisation that just the assessment and provides a proposal for how the maintenance key should look, and what kind of percentage should be used. [...] The controlling organisation is the party that needs to make the decisions, said

Respondent 1

This quotation indicates that the controlling organisation plays a major role in the process of separating subsequent expenditures that should be capitalised from maintenance expenses. In the controlling organisation, the managing team discusses proposals for maintenance keys. The team is authorised and qualified to make decisions due to its work with expenditures.

4.3. Operation departments interaction with accounting policies.

The memos show that these organisations set their accounting policies according to IFRS. These memos contain accurate and clear instructions, clarifications, and steps for points related to the implementation of accounting policies. The memos help analyse the relationship between high management that sets accounting policies and operative departments that implement them. There is an interaction among different operational departments with these policies. The departments indirectly participate through discussions and notes made to set policies. The departments of programming and development also communicate to fill in data reports. That makes it easier for the accounting operative departments to register correctly, where all submit to supervision and control. The controllers follow up the operations of all kinds to reach decent results.

The actual implementation of the standards requires the activation of rules and routine procedures through accounting policies (Hartmann, 2021). On the one hand, accounting policies were created as solutions for the lack of criteria for capitalising subsequent expenditures to enhance internally developed software in IFRS. On the other hand, they were bridging the knowledge gap caused by these problems. Therefore, the actual implementation of policies shows to what extent these policies achieve this goal.

The policies were set to facilitate the work of departments. They aim to harmoniously ensure consistent applications. That includes all operational departments and high management at all administrative levels. However, departments can not make decisions separately. The data rearrangement and coordination may waste time instead of developing. It is considered as a flaw in all of the performance, validity, and accuracy of the financial reports. Therefore, the high management undertakes the planning process and develops accounting policies (Hartmann, 2021). In addition to the ultimate interpretation of these policies, as explained by Respondent 2.

The purpose of the accounting policy is to make life easier for our accounting departments and to ensure the consistent application throughout the group [...] if we just say this is the guidelines book, please use it, then we will have different interpretations all over the group, and we wouldn't be able to answer how we do it, said **Respondent 2**

IFRS experts in the management and policy-setting department are keen to hold discussions with the operative departments. In terms of implementation possibilities, they discuss their doubts about whether policies are applicable. The general management cooperates with the controllers to implement policies. The main protocols and frameworks must be established to ensure the development of financial reports based on IFRS. Operational departments take the responsibility to operate this due to their experience in project leadership and costs, said Respondent 1.

The IFRS experts management is the one that should interpret and set the policy, and then hand it over to other departments, but to set the policy, we need to take input from a lot of different departments, said **Respondent 1**

The operative departments show that constant communication with senior policy-making departments solves any problem of uncertainty. They cooperate to discuss the solutions and set the policies from the group's perspective, as defined by the IFRS. They also ask for more explanations for some doubtful or ambiguous policies, as respondents 3 and 4 claim:

If there is an inter interpretation, where we are a bit unsure, we can involve the person who has been a part of writing or making that interpretation, to make sure how to interpret that actual situation, said **Respondent 3**

We also have a close connection with the control area too. I would say that all of them are interlinked, [...] If we need their help to make a judgement, we contact them. We also contact controllers to get a better understanding of the actual business if we are unsure. All in all, yes, communication is so significant in such cases, said **Respondent 4.**

It is noted that the communication increases the significance of the operative departments' role in the development of accounting policies. It defines the operations and helps develop various steps in order to implement clear and accurate accounting policies. Regarding accounting policies setting, these departments are active action-takers, not just recipients of instructions. It is due to the strong interdependence, integration, and continuous communication between the operation and control departments. In addition to the connection with IFRS experts and accounting policies development management, as respondent 4 emphasised:

We need to do our judgement, since we need to apply the standards on the reality [...] We can make that judgement ourselves for sure, but we need to have their permission, since it could affect the financial statements significantly, said **Respondent 4.**

5. Discussion

Initially, regarding the development over the last two decades, traditional production organisations have found themselves compelled to enter the field of software development (Sommerville, 2000). Many products are no longer traditional and increasingly intertwined with technologies. The development of IAS 38 also has not been at the same level as the software development. These issues motivate the traditional production organisations to work on developing accounting policies that separate maintenance expenses from enhancement expenditures of the internally developed software. This separation helps organisations avoid capitalising maintenance expenses (Triplett and Heuer, 2020).

There is a knowledge gap for organisations, which is finding the best way to separate expenditures of the internally developed software. It has prompted relevant organisations to strive to fill the gap. IAS 38 requires an organisation to recognise an intangible asset if it meets specific conditions and criteria (IAS 38, para Objective). Developing accounting policies helps find practical solutions to these cases in line with IFRS Standards. The knowledge gap and lack of solutions prompted the authors to ask the first research question: How are international standards translated into accounting policies regarding internally developed software?

According to Boddie et al. (1990), for decades, there has been a need to distinguish between expense maintenance and enhancement expenditures. When organisations comply with IFRS, they are obliged to interpret IFRS in order to adopt them. In the present study, two organisations' accounting policies have been checked. It has been explained why some policies are namely implemented by management (Bunea, 2006). IFRS specialists read articles and follow up on periodic reports, such as the Big Four, to issue acceptable accounting and financial reports. IFRS specialists also manage the process of implementing accounting policies and issue notes that instruct that. Organisations benefit from the advice and guidance provided by external audit firms, especially the Big Four. These guidelines help maintain accounting policies within the framework of IFRS and exclude what may not be consistent.

Hartmann (2021) states that the accounting policy setting needs effective communication. The information perspective is crucial and creates one of the essential points of view used by researchers. Organisations may demand more consistency in their reports when applying

policies consistent with IFRS (Marioara et al., 2010). It is crucial to know that financial and management accounting have two different contexts. The standards bind the financial accounting context with legal requirements for listed organisations (Hartmann, 2021).

One unanticipated finding was that there is a cooperation between the two organisations that have been questioned during the study. The collaboration occurs at the level of policy-setting departments. The heads of departments cooperate through formal and informal networks. This finding is considered as unexpected based on the restrictions imposed by these organisations, i.e., maintaining the competition and secrecy of information. It is consistent with Thrane and Hald (2006) finding, who emphasises the cooperation and experience exchange between organisations, which benefits all parties. This finding is also consistent with that of DiMaggio & Powell (1983), who found that organisations move towards institutional isomorphism, as they seek to emulate the policies and practices of other successful organisations. In institutional isomorphism, the rules and practices between organisations are compatible in a given organisational area (Johnston, 2013). Collier (2016) believes that cooperation between organisations increases the chances of finding solutions to problems. Thus, the collaboration between organisations opens the way for the transfer and development of valuable ways and ideas. At the same time, it supports the idea of institutional isomorphism and mimetics between organisations, as previously argued (DiMaggio & Powell, 1983).

The second question in this study was, how do organisations' software development methods affect the capitalisation of expenditures? Controversy still exists regarding the different approaches to develop and update internally developed software. Some specialised programmers claim that the waterfall method is less complicated, as it is done in clear stages. Others argue that the agile method is best suited for this type of project. The Agile method is creative and modern. It does not submit to the frameworks and preconceived plans that restrict programmers and developers' implementation. Others see a mixture of the two methods and subject each partial software development project to one of these methods as appropriate to the state of that project. Organisations need to understand the technical complexities associated with software development methods. Therefore, the choice of method imposes a different accounting treatment. The management must sort out periodic and non-periodic maintenance expenses and enhancement expenditures to be capitalised.

In other words, following the agile method completely by one of the two organisations made its focus on developing completely new accounting policies. It makes capitalisation of subsequent expenditures in terms of continuous follow-up and sorting of these expenditures almost complete. The organisations set the operational foundations to facilitate the sorting process with the help of the operating departments (Balaziuk et al., 2020).

The second organisation adopted both traditional waterfall and agile methods. It motivated the IFRS experts to maintain the accounting policies of the waterfall method and work to develop accounting policies that fit the internally developed software projects which use the agile method.

There is also cooperation between IFRS specialists in these organisations and the other departments that are involved directly or indirectly in policy implementation. The role of the operational departments is critical, especially the controllers who actively participate in the discussions. They provide essential information to upper management about expenditures. This information greatly and effectively helps in determining the nature of these expenditures. Expenditures are allocated between the enhancements that add value to the asset and maintenance that maintains the asset's complete operating condition.

Controllers are in direct contact with programmers and engineers who provide time reports that show time and effort spent on projects under development. They are also in direct contact with accountants who record daily operations and issue monthly and annual reports. Communication takes place through official correspondence, meetings, and discussions. Communication aims to simultaneously achieve a smooth and acceptable workflow and avoid contradictions with IFRS. The feedback that operational departments provide to IFRS specialists and policy development is essential for clarifying ambiguities that may be encountered. It indicates the necessity of cooperation between the higher management that makes the decisions as IFRS experts and the operational departments.

It is taken into account that the methodology of the present study had been subjected to some limitations. The first limitation is the lack of literature regarding the subsequent expenditure capitalisation of the internally developed software. Previous literature focused on intangible assets, including internally developed software only, without expanding on the capitalisation of subsequent expenditure. The second limitation is the lack of information provided by case organisations about the subsequent capitalisation of internally developed software

expenditures. The reason is that the institutions are keen on maintaining the confidentiality of information. To explain, the information is limited by commercial reasons related to competition. The third limitation is secrecy. A respectful deal of information was gathered from several organisations, but some of it is unpublishable due to intellectual property.

In conclusion, the IFRS experts strive for appropriate accounting policies for capitalising subsequent expenditures for internally developed software. They cooperate with operative departments, the Big Four, and accounting policy setters in other organisations. They design the accounting policies to suit the waterfall or agile methods. The policy-setting departments in the two case organisations understood IFRS and developed decent accounting policies. Policy-setting departments reached the accounting policies by providing relevant reports and financial statements. Policy-setting departments constantly strive for solution finding and knowledge-gap bridging regarding the capitalising of subsequent expenditures of internally developed software.

6. Conclusion

To conclude, the present study attempted to provide diverse and decent insights from different levels of management. I.e., high management members in the IFRS department, and mid-level management, i.e., members of the operational department. The present study was conducted to answer questions about setting accounting policies to capitalise the subsequent expenditures of internally developed software in traditional production organisations. The study examined two international organisations, and the results showed that organisations develop their accounting policies based on their interpretation of IAS 38. Three main levels have been identified in the organisations to conduct the study.

The first level is the translation of IFRS into accounting policies in the organisations and the cooperation among organisations. The study explained how the IFRS department strives to develop accounting policies compatible with IFRS. The development goes through many stages, such as understanding the requirements of IFRS, reviewing the updates issued by IFRS, and benefiting from the experience of the Big Four. The results also stressed the significance of cooperation and the exchange of experience among organisations, which greatly supports the accounting work. It is consistent with the previous research on institutional isomorphism, which supports cooperation and the exchange of information.

The second level is the organisations' implementation of their defined accounting policies. Based on the requirements of IFRS, the department began to develop a preliminary accounting position paper. The position paper is subject to further examination to set the final details. It is done according to each organisation and the method they used to develop software, whether the agile or the traditional waterfall method.

The third level is how operations departments interact with the accounting policies. Operations departments do not operate independently. They constantly receive instructions from the IFRS department. However, they do not only deal with accounting policies as recipients, but they also interact with them. The study showed the significant role of these departments in providing essential information and assistance in the process of setting accounting policies. These departments meet with the IFRS department, programmers, and developers.

To conclude, developing accounting policies for subsequent expenditures is an integrated process. The experts of IFRS in these organisations work to find solutions that formulate the

basis of primary accounting policies within the framework of IFRS requirements. Policies can be properly and efficiently implemented by providing technical support, discussion, consultation, and development of working methods.

7. Suggestions for further research

New cases of software and subsequent expenditures are still valuable for research and follow-up. Therefore, it is suggested that more studies should be carried out and focus on the diligent work carried out by IFRS experts. It should motivate the IASB to make revisions and updates to IFRS, especially standard IAS 38. It may expand to cover most of the latest instances generated by the tremendous development of internally developed software and its subsequent continuous enhancements.

References

- Aboody, D., & Lev, B. (1998). The Value-Relevance of Intangibles: The Case of Software Capitalization. Journal of Accounting Research (Supplement), Vol. 36.
- Abrahamsson, P., Solo, O., Ronkainen, J., & Warsta, J. (2002). Agile Software Development Methods. VTT technical Research Centre of Finland.
- Abrahamsson, P., Warsta, J., Siponen, M. T., & Ronkainen, J. (2003). New directions on agile methods: a comparative analysis. In Software Engineering, 2003. Proceedings. 25th International Conference on (pp. 244-254). Ieee.
- Aitken, M., & Loftus, J. (1994). DETERMINANTS OF ACCOUNTING POLICY CHOICE IN THE AUSTRALIAN PROPERTY INDUSTRY: A PORTFOLIO APPROACH. Accounting and Finance (Parkville), 34(2), 1-20.
- Alexander, M. (2016, May 5). 8 challenges affecting software project management. CIO. https://www.cio.com/article/240992/8-challenges-affecting-software-project-management.html
- Ali, M., & Ahmed, K. (2017). Determinants of accounting policy choices under international accounting standards. Accounting Research Journal, 30(4), 430-446.
- Allender, E. (2019, September 19). What Is Software Asset Management And Why Is It Important?

 Insight.

 https://www.insight.com/en_US/content-and-resources/2019/09192019-what-is-software-asset-management--and-why-is-it-important.html
- Babbie, E. (2004). The Practice of Social Research. Belmont, CA: Thomson/Wadsworth Brewer GA, Facer RL, O'Toole LJ Jr, et al. (1998) The state of doctoral education in public administration: developments in the field's research preparation. Journal of Public Affairs Education 1998: 123–135.
- Baiman, S., & Rajan, M. (2002). Incentive issues in inter-firm relationships. Accounting, Organizations and Society, 27(3), 213-238.

- Balaziuk, O., Sysoieva, I., & Pilyavets, V. (2020). Control and Accounting Aspects of Introducing Agile-Methodology for Software Development Projects. Financial and Credit Activities: Problems of Theory and Practice 2020 № 3 (34).
- Barker, R., Lennard, A., Penman, S., & Teixeira, A. (2021). Accounting for intangible assets: suggested solutions. Accounting and Business Research. DOI: 10.1080/00014788.2021.1938963.
- Barth, M. E. (2018). How International Accounting Research Influences Policy and Standard Setting. JOURNAL OF INTERNATIONAL ACCOUNTING RESEARCH Vol. 17, No. 2 Summer 2018 pp. 1–11.
- Basu, S., and Waymire, G. (2008). Has the importance of intangibles really grown? And if so, Why? Accounting and Business Research, 38 (3), 171–190.
- Marioara, B., Teodora, I. M., & Victoria, B. (2010). Accountants About Accounting Pplicies. An Emiprical Investigation Of Smes From Bihor County. Analele Universității Din Oradea. Științe Economice, 1(1), 464-468.
- Bessen, J., and Frick, W. (2018, November 19). How Software Is Helping Big Companies

 Dominate.

 HBR.

 https://hbr.org/2018/11/how-software-is-helping-big-companies-dominate
- Boddie, J. (1987). Crunch Mode: Building Effective Systems on a Tight Schedule. Ann Arbor, Michigan, United States.
- Boehm, B. (2002). Get ready for agile methods, with care. Computer, 35(1), 64-69.
- Boehm, B. W., & Papaccio, P. N. (1988). Understanding and controlling software costs. Software Engineering, IEEE Transactions on, 14(10), 1462-1477.
- Boehm, B., & Turner, R. (2004). Balancing agility and discipline: Evaluating and integrating agile and plan-driven methods. In Software Engineering, 2004. ICSE 2004. Proceedings. 26th International Conference on(pp. 718-719). IEEE.
- Bryman, A., & Bell, E. (2007). Business research methods (2.nd ed.). Oxford: Oxford University Press.

- Bunea, Ş., (2006), Monocromie și policromie în proiectarea politicilor contabile ale întreprinderilor, București: Editura Economică.
- Canty, D. (2015). Agile for Project Managers. Florida, CRC Press.
- Caglio, A., & Ditillo, A. (2010). Interdependence and accounting information exchanges in inter-firm relationships. Journal of Management and Governance, 16(1), 57-80.
- Chalmers, K., Clinch, G., and Godfrey, J. M. (2008). Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards: Impact on the Value Relevance of Intangible Assets. Australian Accounting Review. DOI: 10.1111/j.1835-2561.2008.0028.x.
- Chappell, E., & Dettmar. M. (2014). Capitalization of Software Development Costs -a Comparison between EU and U.S. School of Business, Economics and Law at the University of Gothenburg.
- Celi, J, & Dorn, M, B. (2020, May 13). Accounting for Costs Incurred in the Application of Agile Software Development. Deloitte. https://dart.deloitte.com/USDART/home/publications/deloitte/accounting-spotlight/ag ile-software-development.
- Cobb, C. G. (2015). The Project Manager's Guide to Mastering Agile: Principles and Practices for an adaptive approach, New Jersey, John Wiley & Sons.
- Coker Preye Robert & Macaulay Onovughakpo Augustine (2019) :Understanding the concept of knowledge gap and knowledge expansion: A theoretical perspective.
- Coram, M., & Bohner, S. (2005). The impact of agile methods on software project management. In Engineering of Computer-Based Systems, 2005. ECBS'05. 12th IEEE International Conference and Workshops on the (pp. 363-370). IEEE.
- Collier, C. (2016, November 21). How To Adopt A Collaborative Problem-Solving Approach Through 'Yes, And' Thinking. Forbes. https://www.forbes.com/sites/forbescoachescouncil/2016/11/21/how-to-adopt-a-collab-orative-problem-solving-approach-through-yes-and-thinking/?sh=335cc84f6694
- Creswell JW, Poth CN. (2017). Qualitative Inquiry & Research Design: Choosing Among Five Approaches. 4th ed. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

- Cypress, B. (2018). Qualitative Research Methods: A Phenomenological Focus. Dimensions of Critical Care Nursing, 37(6), 302-309.
- Dekker, H. C. (2004). Control of inter-organizational relationships: Evidence on appropriation concerns and coordination requirements. Accounting, Organizations and Society, 29(1), 27–49.
- Denzin NK, Lincoln YS. (1994). Handbook of Qualitative Research. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- DiMaggio, P. J., & Powell, W. W. (1983). The iron cage revisited: Institutional isomorphism and collective rationality in organizational fields. American sociological review, 147-160.
- Easterby-Smith, M., Golden-Biddle, K., & Locke, K. (2008). Working With Pluralism. Organizational Research Methods, 11(3), 419-429.
- Eberhart, A. C., Maxwell, W. F., and Siddique, A. R, (2004). An examination of long-term abnormal stock returns and operating performance following R&D increases. Journal of Finance, 59 (2), 623–650.
- Elizabeth, D. (2022, April 5). Expenditure vs. Expense, Differences You Need to Know Between the Two!. Funds Net. https://fundsnetservices.com/expenditure-vs-expense
- Englander, M. (2012). The Interview: Data Collection in Descriptive Phenomenological Human Scientific Research. Journal of Phenomenological Psychology, 43.1:13-35. Web.
- Flynn, S., Moretti, D., & Cavanagh, J. (2016). Implementing Accrual Accounting in the Public Sector. Technical Notes and Manuals, 2016(06), 1. https://doi.org/1-59259-874-9:243
- Forrest, S. (2017). Teaching social science research methods to undergraduate medical students. Teaching Public Administration, 35(3), 280-300.
- Gaffikin, M. (2006). The critique of Accounting Theory. University of Wollongong, Faculty of Business-Accounting & Finance. Research online.

- Gaffikin, M. (2008). Accounting Theory-research, Regulation and Accounting Practice. Australia: Pearson Education.
- Giorgi, A. (2009). The descriptive phenomenological method in psychology: A modified husserlian approach.
- Guba EG, Lincoln YS. (1989). Fourth Generation Evaluation. Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications;.
- Hager, R. L., & Zmijewski, M. E. (1979). Some economic determinants of accounting policy choice. Journal of Accounting and Economics 141—161. O North-Holland Publishing Company.
- Hartmann, B. (2021). Current value as relational becoming: The case of goodwill impairment testing. Qualitative Research in Accounting and Management, Ahead-of-print(Ahead-of-print), Qualitative research in accounting and management, 2021-08-28, Vol.ahead-of-print (ahead-of-print).
- Hatfield, G. (2002). R&D in an EVA world. Research-Technology Management 45 (1): 41–7.
- Highsmith, J. A. (2002). Agile software development ecosystems. Addison-Wesley Professional.
- Holliday, M. (2020, October 29). Expense vs. Expenditure: What's the Difference?. Oracle Netsuite.
 https://www.netsuite.com/portal/resource/articles/financial-management/expense-expe
- Huikku, J., Mouritsen, J. and Silvola, H. (2017), "Relative reliability and the recognisable firm: calculating goodwill impairment value", Accounting, Organizations and Society, Vol. 56, pp. 68-83.
- Håkansson, H., & Lind, J. (2006). Accounting in an Interorganizational Setting. In Handbooks of Management Accounting Research (Vol. 2, pp. 885-902). Elsevier.
- IFRS Foundation. https://www.ifrs.org/

nditure.shtml

- Johnston, M. (2013). Mimetic, Coercive and Normative Influences and the Decision of National Sport Organisations to Bid for World Championship Events. Auckland University of Technology.
- Keita, B. (2020, November 3). Top 5 Reasons Why Organizations are Adopting Agile Methodologies. Invensis. https://www.invensislearning.com/blog/why-do-companies-adopt-agile-methodologie s/
- Kihlström, G. (2016). The Agile Web: A Challenge to Re-Examine the Methods and Processes Used to Plan, Enhance and Optimize websites. Vancouver, Carousel 30.
- Laux, C., and C. Leuz. (2009). The crisis of fair-value accounting: Making sense of the recent debate. Accounting, Organizations and Society 34 (6): 826–34.
- Lee, K., & Pennings, J. M. (2002). Mimicry and the market: Adoption of a new organizational form. Academy of Management Journal. 45: 144-162.
- Lev, B. (2001). Intangibles: Management, measurement, and reporting, Washington, DC: Brookings Institution Press.
- Lev, B. (2008). A rejoinder to Douglas Skinner's "Accounting for intangibles—A critical review of policy recommendations." Accounting and Business Research 38 (3): 209–13.
- Lev, B. (2019). Ending the Accounting-for-Intangibles Status Quo. The European Accounting Review, 28(4), 713-736.
- Lincoln Y. S., Guba E. G. (1991). Naturalistic Inquiry. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Linton, I. (2011). Five Reasons Organizations Develop IT Systems. Chron. https://smallbusiness.chron.com/five-reasons-organizations-develop-systems-23853.ht ml
- Lu, T., & Sivaramakrishnan. K. (2018). Expensing Versus Capitalization. Contemporary Accounting Research 35.3. 1262-278. Web.

- Manullang, L. (2005). Teori Akuntansi dengan Pendekatan Peristiwa (Event Approach) (Kasus Pengungkapan Korupsi). Pidato Pengukuhan Guru Besar Dalam Ilmu Akuntansi tidak diterbitkan. Jakarta: STIE IBEK.
- Marciniak, J. J., & Reifer, D. J. (1990). Software Acquisition Management. New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Maria Ienciu, N., & Matiş, D. (2014). Inflection Points in the Development of IAS 38. Journal of Financial Reporting & Accounting 12.1. 62-75. Web.
- Marton, J., Lumsden, M., Lundqvist, P., and Pettersson, A. K. (2013). IFRS I Teori Och Praktik Tredji Upplagan. Sanoma Utbildning Stockholm.
- Maxwell JA. (2005). Qualitative Research Design: An Interactive Approach. 2nd ed. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- McCormick, M. (2012). Waterfall vs. Agile Methodology. MPCS, Inc. Revised Edition 8/9/2012.
- Me'nard, C. (2004). The economics of hybrid organizations. Journal of Institutional and Theoretical Economics, 160, 1–32.
- Moniruzzaman, A. B. M., and Hossain, S. A. (2013). Comparative Study on Agile software development methodologies. Global Journal of Computer Science and Technology (c) Volume 13 Issue 7 Version I.
- Mouck, T. (2004), "Institutional reality, financial reporting and the rules of the game", Accounting, Organizations and Society, Vol. 29 Nos 5/6, pp. 525-541.
- Mariana, P., & Violeta, S. (2011). The Intangible Assets Investments. Characteristics and the Accounting Treatment. Analele Universității Din Oradea. Științe Economice 20.1 : 295-300. Web.
- Ochieng, P. (2009). An Analysis Of The Strengths And Limitation Of Qualitative And Quantitative Research Paradigms. Problems of Education in the 21st Century, 13, 13.
- Othman, M., Ismail, M.H., & Wahab, N.A. (2017). Computing Research & Innovation (CRINN) Vol 2. Perlis Branch, University Teknologi Mara.

- Porter, M. E., & Heppelmann, J. E. (2014, November). How Smart, Connected Products Are Transforming Competition. Harvard Business Review. https://hbr.org/2014/11/how-smart-connected-products-are-transforming-competition
- Prediscan, M. & Sacui, V. (2011). The Intangible Assets Investments. Characteristics and the Accounting Treatment. RePEc.
- Puri, C.P. (2009). Agile Management: Feature Driven Development. New Delhi, Global India Publications Pvt Ltd.
- Reed, P, & Wyckoff, W. (2016). Accounting for Capitalization of Agile Labor Costs. Agile Alliance.
- Santoso, M. R., Sebayang, M. M. (2017). A glimpse of positive accounting theory (PAT). Junior Scientific Researcher, Vol III, No. 2, pp. 70-76.
- Skinner, D. (2008). Accounting for intangibles—A critical review of policy recommendations. Accounting and Business Research 38 (3): 191–204.
- Smits, H. (2006). Levels of Agile Planning: From Enterprise Product Vision to Team Standup. Rally Software Development Corporation Whitepaper.
- Sommerville, I. (2000). Software Engineering, Addison-Wesley, 6th ed.
- Southwell, K. (2002). Agile process improvement. TickIT International Journal, 3-14.
- Stadler, C., & Nobes, C. (2018). Accounting for government grants: Standard-setting and accounting choice. Journal of Accounting and Public Policy, 37(2), 113-129.
- Stober, T., & Hansmann, U. (2010). Agile Software Development: Best Practices for Large Software Development Projects. Berlin, Springer Verlag.
- Storey, R., and Storey, S. (1998). FASB Special Report, the Framework of Financial Accounting Concepts and Standards. Norwalk, CT: FASB.
- Sullivan, P. H., Jr., and P. H. Sullivan, Sr. (2000). Valuing Intangibles Companies. Journal of Intellectual Capital, Vol. 1, No. 4.

- Thrane, S., & Hald, K. S. (2006). The emergence of boundaries and accounting in supply fields: The dynamics of integration and fragmentation. Management Accounting Research, 17, 288–31.
- Tomkins, C. (2001). Interdependencies, trust and information in relationships, alliances and networks. Accounting, Organizations and Society, 26, 161–191.
- Triplett, L., & Heuer, S. (2020). Accounting for software costs. Grant Thornton.
- Vallabhaneni, R. S. (2018). Wiley CIAexcel Exam Review 2018, Part 3: Internal Audit Knowledge Elements. New Jersey, John Wiley & Sons.
- Walker, R. G., & Oliver, G. R. (2005). Accounting for Expenditure on Software Development for Internal Use. ABACUS, Vol. 41, No. 1.
- Williams, L., Cockburn, A. (2003). Agile Software Development: It's about Feedback and Change. IEEE Computer, June 2003, pp. 39-43.
- Wiratama, R., & Asri, M. (2020). A Literature Review: Positive Accounting Theory (PAT). Fakultas Ekonomi dan Bisnis Universitas Atma Jaya Makassar 2020.
- Wohlin, C., Wnuk, K., Smite, D., Franke, U., Badampudi, D., & Cicchetti, A. (2014). Supporting Strategic Decision-making for Selection of Software Assets.
- Wyatt, A. (2008). What financial and non-financial information on intangibles is value-relevant? A review of the evidence. Accounting and Business Research, 38 (3), 217–256.
- Youll, D. P. (1990). Making software development visible: Effective project control. John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Yurieva, A. (2016, August 19). Importance of flexibility in Agile Development. VironIT. https://vironit.com/the-importance-of-flexibility-in-agile-development/